## PDE5 Inhibition for Obesity-Related Cardiometabolic Dysfunction

NCT02819440

**Protocol Date: 4/30/2019** 

**Principal Investigator:** 

Evan Brittain, MD, MSCI

**Co-Investigators:** 

Thomas Wang, MD

## **Table of Contents:**

- 1.0 Background
- 2.0 Rationale and Specific Aims
- 3.0 Animal Studies and Previous Human Studies
- 4.0 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria
- 5.0 Enrollment
- 6.0 Study Procedures
- 7.0 Optional Genetic and Future Research on Biological Samples
- 8.0 Reporting of Adverse Events or Unanticipated Problems involving Risk to Participants or Others
- 9.0 Study Withdrawal/Discontinuation
- 10.0 Statistical Considerations
- 11.0 Privacy/Confidentiality Issues
- 12.0 Follow-up and Record Retention
- 13.0 Literature cited

## 1.0 Background

Obesity is a risk factor for nearly all cardiovascular (CV) diseases including coronary artery disease, hypertension, and heart failure. Obesity and its adverse cardiometabolic sequelae represent major and worsening public health burdens. In 2000, the World Health Organization declared obesity as the greatest threat to the health of Westernized nations.<sup>1</sup> In the U.S. Obesity accounts for over 400,000 deaths per year and affects 35% of the adult population.

Increased cardiovascular risk in obese individuals appears to depend largely on the degree of metabolic dysregulation. Obese individuals without other metabolic risk factors (such as glucose intolerance, dyslipidemia, or central adiposity) have cardiovascular outcomes similar to those of lean individuals. In contrast, obese individuals with a high burden of metabolic risk factors are at very high risk of future events. Notably, interventions that improve insulin sensitivity<sup>2</sup> and cardiorespiratory fitness<sup>3</sup> can reduce cardiovascular risk in obese individuals, even in the absence of weight loss.

The poor effectiveness of lifestyle-based interventions highlights the need for new strategies to improve cardiometabolic health in obese individuals. Estimates suggest that over half of all Americans are currently attempting weight loss, and another quarter are attempting to maintain achieved weight loss. Despite these efforts, many people never achieve significant weight reduction and weight loss recidivism at one year approaches 90%.<sup>4,5</sup> Thus, lifestyle-based interventions alone are unlikely to achieve significant reductions in obesity-related cardiovascular risk at the population level. These data underscore the potential value of physiologic interventions directly targeting metabolic fitness in obesity.

## 2.0 Rationale and Specific Aims

Obesity is frequently accompanied by abnormalities in energy homeostasis, cardiopulmonary function, and peripheral insulin resistance. A large body of experimental and clinical data suggests that these abnormalities contribute to the increased cardiovascular and metabolic risk in obese individuals, making them potentially attractive targets for intervention.

Energy expenditure is a major determinant of weight gain and loss. The primary components of total energy expenditure are physical activity (30%), the thermic effect of food (10%), and resting energy expenditure (REE, 60%). Obese individuals have approximately 50% lower REE, indexed to body weight, compared with normal weight adults. Weight loss is associated with a further reduction in REE, an adaptive mechanism that resists maintenance of a reduced body weight and ultimately contributes to weight regain. Adjunctive strategies to complement diet and exercise by safely increasing metabolic rate during rest and physical activity may assist in efforts at weight loss and weight loss maintenance.

Obesity is associated with reduced cardiopulmonary capacity. Maximal oxygen consumption during exercise is inversely related to body mass index and fasting insulin level.<sup>7,8</sup> Furthermore, exercise capacity is strongly related to clinical outcomes in obese individuals, highlighting its value as an endpoint in this population.<sup>9,10</sup>

Increasing cGMP activity can be achieved pharmacologically by inhibiting phosphodiesterase type 5A (PDE5), which catabolizes cGMP. The clinically-available drugs sildenafil and tadalfil are specific inhibitors of PDE5 and multiple studies suggest that they have beneficial cardiometabolic effects.

Strategies to increase energy expenditure may improve the success of lifestyle interventions in obese individuals. In an animal model of obesity, PDE5 inhibition increased energy expenditure for the same amount of physical activity. PDE5 inhibition improves insulin sensitivity and beta cell function in experimental models and small human studies. Prior studies have been limited by small sample size and less sensitive methods for assessing insulin sensitivity and secretion. PDE5 inhibition increases intracellular cGMP tone. Prior studies have used plasma or urine concentrations of cGMP as an index of "target-organ" responsiveness to NP, proposing the ratio of cGMP to natriuretic peptide (NP) concentrations as an index of NP sensitivity.

We propose to evaluate energy expenditure in response to a metabolic intervention in which weight loss is not a direct target. We hypothesize that PDE5 inhibition will increase resting energy expenditure, improve insulin sensitivity, and increase the cGMP/NP ratio in obese adults.

## Aim 1. To examine the effect of PDE5 inhibition on energy expenditure in obese adults.

Subjects will undergo a 4-hour metabolic chamber protocol at baseline and after 12 weeks of placebo or tadalafil therapy to measure resting and sub-maximal exercise energy expenditure. The primary endpoint is resting energy expenditure at 12 weeks, adjusted for baseline values.

- Aim 2. To examine the effect of PDE5 inhibition on insulin sensitivity.

  Subjects will undergo FS-IVGTTs which will provide a validated estimate of insulin sensitivity and the acute insulin response to glucose. The primary endpoint is insulin sensitivity at 12 weeks, adjusted for baseline values.
- Aim 3. To examine the effect of PDE5 inhibition on cGMP tone and circulating mediators of cardiometabolic risk.

  Subjects will undergo fasting blood draw at baseline and 12 weeks to measure cGMP and NPs. The primary endpoint is cGMP/NP ratio at 12 weeks, adjusted for baseline value

We may perform interim unblinded analyses of select secondary endpoints (e.g. fat mass, blood pressure) after getting approval from the data safety monitor and the study biostatistician. We will not perform any unblinded analyses of primary endpoints until study procedures are complete.

#### 3.0 Animal Studies and Previous Human Studies

#### Prior experimental work

In a high-fat diet mouse model of obesity and insulin resistance, Dr. Wasserman showed that sildenafil increases resting and ambulatory energy expenditure, independent of activity level. Sildenafil also conferred resistance to weight gain from high fat diet over 12 weeks. Finally, PDE5 inhibition improved insulin sensitivity and muscle glucose uptake assessed by hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamp. These observations support measuring energy expenditure and insulin sensitivity as primary endpoints in a human trial of PDE5 inhibition.

## Prior observational studies

We have performed metabolomic profiling in more than 3,000 individuals in the Framingham Heart Study and Malmo Diet and Cancer Study. In prior studies, we have shown associations of branched chain amino acids, aromatic amino acids, tryptophan metabolites, nucleotides, glutamine, and glutamate with obesity, insulin resistance, and other metabolic traits.<sup>28</sup> In prediabetic individuals, we have shown that branched chain and aromatic amino acids predict incident diabetes up to 12 years later.<sup>29</sup> We have also demonstrated the association of a lysine metabolite, 2-aminoadipic acid, with future diabetes, and shown that 2-aminoadipic acid modulates glucose homeostasis *in vivo*.<sup>33</sup> In the Malmo Diet and Cancer Study, we have demonstrated that many of these metabolites predict cardiovascular events and subclinical atherosclerosis.<sup>30</sup> In analyses of >110 lipid species, we have demonstrated that lipids of lower carbon number and double-bond content are associated with a higher risk of diabetes.<sup>34</sup>

We examined metabolite profiles before and after OGTT in 377 non-diabetic Framingham Offspring cohort participants.<sup>35</sup> Dynamic changes were observed in multiple pathways demonstrating the feasibility of altering metabolomic profiles in response to a metabolic intervention (glucose administration). We identified metabolite responses that distinguished individuals with and without insulin resistance, including in pathways not associated with insulin or glucose action. Findings from these studies support the use of metabolomic profiling to assess the effect of interventions such as PDE5 inhibition on pathways associated with cardiometabolic risk. Exploratory analyses may also allow the identification of additional metabolites related to increased cGMP signaling.

### Pilot Studies of PDE5 inhibition

We conducted a pilot study of tadalafil versus placebo in insulin-resistant individuals with BMI > 27 kg/m2. In double-blind fashion, individuals were randomized to receive tadalafil (20mg/day) or placebo for 3 months (n=53). During follow up, 3 subjects from the tadalafil arm compared with 2 subjects from the placebo arm withdrew from the study. Reasons for withdrawal in the tadalafil arm included headache (n=1) and muscle aches (n=2). There were no instances of hypotension, visual disturbances, or serious adverse events among individuals randomized to tadalafil.

In the pilot study, we found improvement in the oral disposition index, a composite measure of insulin release and resistance (p=0.009). We also observed a trend toward improvement in the Matsuda index (p = 0.05). HOMA-IR improved significantly in subjects with BMI above the median (36 kg/m2) assigned to tadalafil (p=0.02 for comparison with placebo), but not in the entire sample (which included overweight individuals). There was no significant change in weight in either group. In additional preliminary work, we have performed hyperglycemic clamps in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance randomized to sildenafil (n=21) 25 mg TID or placebo (n=21) for 3 months. PDE5 inhibition improved the insulin sensitivity index and disposition index, measured by clamp (both p<0.05).

#### Experience with metabolic techniques

This proposal brings together a multi-disciplinary and collaborative team to leverage some of Vanderbilt's unique institutional and intellectual resources.

Energy Balance Laboratory. \_\_\_\_\_\_, an NIH-funded expert in the quantification and interpretation of energy expenditure and physical activity data, directs the lab and Metabolic

Core using whole room indirect calorimetry (metabolic activity related energy expenditure and Vanderb this technology available will also quantify physical activity.	,
Assays of insulin and glucose homeostasis. metabolic studies in humans and mice has extensive hyperinsulinemic-euglycemic clamps, and hypercompleted over 200 in the past 5 years and have analyses for FS-IVGTT studies.	glycemic clamps. <sup>42,43</sup> He and his team have

Cyclic GMP signaling and metabolomic profiling. Our group has experience in the quantification of metabolites involved in cGMP signaling and broad-based metabolomics platforms. Dr. Wang has performed several cohort based studies using a targeted mass spectrometry-based platform that quantifies approximately 300 metabolites. <sup>28-30,35</sup> Dr. Brittain has also participated in metabolomics studies using plasma and tissue.

#### 4.0 Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Inclusion criteria:

- 1) Adults (ages 21-50)
- 2) Obesity (BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sub>2</sub>)
- 3) Evidence of abnormal glucose metabolism at screening visit, defined as *any* of the following:
  - Hemoglobin A1C between 5.7-6.4
    - Fasting glucose between 100-125
    - HOMA IR greater than 2.5

**Rationale for Inclusion Criteria:** This study is designed to target individuals at the highest risk for the development of diabetes and subsequent adverse CV outcomes. The upper age cutoff is specified to reduce the likelihood of enrolling individuals with subclinical cardiac disease, which could influence the cardiopulmonary endpoints.

Exclusion criteria:

- 1. Age <21 or > 50
- 2. BMI <  $30 \text{ kg/m}_2$
- 3. Systolic blood pressure (SBP) < 100, > 150 mmHg
- 4. Current anti-hypertensive medication use, including diuretics
- 5. Current use of organic nitrates
- 6. Current use of PDE-5 inhibitors (sildenafil, tadalafil, vardenafil)
- 7. History of reaction to PDE-5 inhibitors
- 8. Known HIV infection
- 9. Use of medications that strongly alter CYP3A4 activity
- 10. History of myocardial infarction, angina, uncontrolled cardiac arrhythmia, stroke, transient ischemic attack, or seizure
- 11. Known non-arteritic ischemic optic retinopathy (NAIOR)
- 12. History of hearing loss
- 13. Estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) <  $60 \text{ ml/min/1.73} \text{ m}_2 \text{ by the modified diet}$  in renal disease (MDRD) equation

- 14. Hepatic transaminase (AST and ALT) levels greater than three times the upper limit of normal
- 15. Known pregnancy or breastfeeding or those unwilling to avoid pregnancy during the course of the study
- 16. History of priapism
- 17. Use in excess of four alcoholic drinks daily
- 18. History of diabetes mellitus or use of anti-diabetic medications
- 19. Known anemia (men, Hct < 38% and women, Hct <36%)
- 20. Menopause
- 21. Inability to exercise on a bicycle

#### Rationale for Exclusion Criteria:

- 1) Given the increasing prevalence of cardiovascular disease and hypertension in older obese subjects, we will exclude individuals over age 50 from the study. Our institutional IRB defines adults as 19 years and older.
- 2) Given our intent to study the effects of this medication in clinically obese individuals, we will exclude individuals with BMI < 30 kg/m2.
- 3) Given the potential for mild changes in blood pressure and the potential interaction of tadalafil with antihypertensive medications, we will exclude subjects with low-normal blood pressure and those requiring treatment with anti-hypertensive medication during the study.
- 4) Given the possibility for hypotension when tadalafil and anti-hypertensive medications are combined, we will exclude subjects currently taking anti-hypertensive medications.
- 5) Given the potential for severe hypotension when combining tadalafil and nitrates, we will exclude individuals taking nitrates.
- 6) Given the possibility for interaction between two medications from the same class and the intent to study the native effects of the medication, we will exclude individuals already taking a PDE-5 inhibitor.
- 7) Given the increased likelihood of a second reaction in those who have already experienced a prior side effect of a PDE-5 inhibitor, we will exclude those who have had a previous reaction to a PDE-5 inhibitor (sildenafil, tadalafil, vardenafil).
- 8) Given the inhibition of CYP3A4 and subsequent elevation of tadalafil levels by protease inhibitors, which are used only to treat HIV infection, we will exclude individuals with known HIV infection.
- 9) Given their potential effects on CYP3A4 activity and, as a result, tadalafil levels, we will exclude individuals taking oral ketoconazole, itraconazole, erythromycin, rifampin, phenytoin, or carbamazepine; topical preparations of antifungal or antibiotic medications will not be contraindicated as these do not appear to significantly alter systemic CYP3A4 activity.
- 10) Given the temporal association of myocardial infarction, angina, uncontrolled cardiac arrhythmia, stroke, transient ischemic attack, or seizure with tadaladil in post-market surveillance (which has not been directly attributed to the drug itself), we will exclude those with a past history of these conditions.
- 11) Given the temporal association of NAIOR with tadalafil in post-marketing surveillance, we will exclude those with this condition from the study.
- 12) Given the temporal association of hearing loss with tadalafil in post-marketing surveillance, we will exclude those with this condition from the study.
- 13) Given the altered metabolism of tadalafil in subjects with renal dysfunction, we will exclude those with abnormal renal function (by eGFR as measured by MDRD).
- 14) Given the altered metabolism of tadalafil in subjects with hepatic dysfunction, we will exclude those with transaminase levels more than three times the upper limit of normal.

- 15) Given the untested effects of tadalafil on pregnant or breastfeeding women, we will exclude women who are pregnant or breastfeeding or who are able to become pregnant and not practicing an acceptable method of birth control during the study (including abstinence).
- 16) Given the increased risk of priapism with use of tadalafil, individuals with a prior history of priapism will be excluded.
- 17) Given that alcohol use in excess of four drinks at one time combined with tadalafil 20mg can precipitate hypotension, individuals who consume more than this amount daily will be excluded.
- 18) Given that we are interested in determining the effect of tadalafil on insulin resistance and metabolism, we will exclude individuals who are taking or are at risk of starting medication for diabetes treatment, which would affect these measures.
- 19) Given that blood samples will be taken at three time points over the 3 month study, we will exclude individuals with known anemia.
- 20) Given the menopause affects energy balance in females, we will exclude menopausal women, determined via interview
- 21) Given that one of the objectives of our study is to investigate the effect of tadalafil on exercise capacity, we will exclude individuals who are unable to exercise on a bicycle.

#### 5.0 Enrollment

Subjects will be recruited from Vanderbilt's Research Notification Distribution List, Research Match, Subject Locator, and the Vanderbilt Nutrition and Diet Assessment Research Core. Within the distributions, a brief description of the study will be provided and a contact number for further information. Upon contacting the study staff, the potential participant will receive a complete explanation of the protocol procedures by telephone.

## 6.0 Study Procedures

This study will consist of a screening visit and study testing at 3 time points over the course of 14 weeks. Patients will be consented over the phone prior to their screening visit and will sign the consent in-person during their screening visit at the Clinical Research Center. At screening, to determine if subjects have evidence of abnormal glucose metabolism, the following tests will be conducted: Hemoglobin A1C, fasting glucose, and fasting insulin. HOMA-IR will be calculated from fasting glucose and insulin. The patient will also be screened to determine if C-peptide, metabolic and blood counts are within normal limits.

Subjects meeting exclusion criteria based on abnormal laboratory values due to chronic, stable conditions may be enrolled at the discretion of the PI in consultation with the subject's treating physician.

**Urine testing**: A urine sample will be collected at screening, and if patient qualifies, at baseline and at 12 weeks, and a urine microalbumin will be measured. Samples may be stored for additional analyses.

**Baseline Testing:** Baseline testing will take place over 2 half-days. Each half-day visit will last approximately 4 hours. Determined by the randomization outcome, subjects will also receive a 7 week supply of tadalafil or the placebo at the second half-day visit. The study staff will discuss how to take the study medication and answer any questions. The following protocols, tests, and surveys will be performed at baseline:

Metabolic Chamber Protocol: The room calorimeter (2.6 m x 4 m; ~19 m3 volume) assures high-precision measurements of physiological variables (e.g. oxygen consumption, heart rate) in a controlled environment and semi-naturalistic conditions (i.e. not wearing a breathing mask or a mouthpiece). The room is equipped with a bed, a television, a toilet, a sink, and an exercise bicycle. Accuracy and precision of the system for measuring EE is tested monthly using an alcohol combustion test. Precision averages 99.2 ± 0.5% (mean ± SD) over 24 hours and 98.6 ± 2.1% over 30 minutes. The system reliably detects short-term changes in metabolic rate to 2.7% over 30 min and 0.6% over a 2 h measurement period. 50,55 In a previous study in adults conducted in our room calorimeter, mean short-term within-subject variability in resting energy expenditure was 3.5±2.2%. The operation of the room calorimeter is controlled and data are collected minute-by-minute using a customized computer program. Subjects will arrive to the CRC after an overnight (~12 hour) fast, have vital signs and a blood sample taken before entering the chamber. Participants will enter the chamber at 8:00 am and remain there until 12:00 pm. After entering the room, subjects will lie on the bed for 30 minutes. Resting energy expenditure will then be averaged over the next 30 minutes while the patient remains on the bed. At approximately 9am, the patient will consume a meal containing approximately 25% of individual daily energy needs and containing 55% of energy from carbohydrates, 30% from fat, and 15% from protein. Diet composition will be determined using the Nutrition Data System for Research (NDSR) software.

Cardiopulmonary Exercise Test Protocol: The test will be conducted inside the metabolic chamber at the CRC according to the American College of Sports Medicine guidelines using an electrically-braked cycle ergometer. We have chosen the ergometer test because it may be better tolerated than the exercise treadmill by obese adults, mechanical efficiency of individuals varies less, measurement of work performed is more accurate, and fatigue-induced change in work efficiency is feasible to measure. Heart rate and rhythm (12-lead electrocardiogram), blood pressure, breath-by-breath gas exchange, and power will be monitored or measured. Peak VO2 uptake will be calculated (ml O2/kg/min) and the anaerobic threshold will be measured. The pedal cadence of ~50 revolutions per minute will be maintained via feedback from a display on the ergometer until voluntary termination of the task (i.e. reaching tolerable fatigue level). Based on our experience the test will last up to 45 minutes. The following measures will be calculated:

- Energy expenditure (EE) rate (kcal/min): Oxygen consumption (VO2), carbon-dioxide production, air flow rate, temperature, barometric pressure, and air humidity will be measured minute-by-minute and integrated to calculate respiratory quotient (RQ = VCO2/VO2) and EE using the Weir equation.56,57
- Resting EE rate (kcal/min; REE): Calculated as the average EE during a 30-min period while the subject is lying in bed having fasted for ~12 hours.
- Physical activity-induced EE (kcal/day): EE related to physical activity will be calculated as total EE above the resting level while performing the ergometer test.

**Fasting intravenous glucose tolerance test (FS-IVGTT) Protocol:** We will conduct insulin modified FS-IVGTTs, which provide a validated estimate of insulin sensitivity and the acute insulin response to glucose (AIRg).<sup>7</sup> The AIRg is a measurement of insulin secretion (i.e. beta

cell function). The disposition index accounts for the hyperbolic relationship between AIRg and *S*<sub>1</sub> and is associated with risk of diabetes. After an overnight ~12-hour fast, subjects will assume a supine position and we will place an intravenous catheter in each arm, one for sampling and one for infusion, and allowed to rest for 15 minutes.

We will collect baseline samples at t=-15 min and t=-5 min for measurement of glucose and insulin. At t=0, we will bolus 300 mg D-glucose/kg in a 25% glucose-saline solution over 1 minute. At t=20 min, we will give a bolus of 0.02 units/kg of regular insulin followed by a 5 mL 0.9% saline flush (Actrapid, Novo Nordisk, Princeton, NJ) intravenously, to improve the accuracy of the FS-IVGTT in patients in whom insulin responses are reduced or absent. Use of low dose insulin avoids saturation of insulin binding sites and maintains insulin concentrations in a range where insulin sensitivity is independent of insulin level. Helood will be collected for measurement of glucose and insulin at t=2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 10, 14, 16, 19, 22, 25, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 90, 110, 130, 150, 170, and 180 min. We will estimate insulin sensitivity ( $S_I$ ), glucose effectiveness at basal insulin ( $S_G$ ), glucose disappearance constant ( $K_G$ ), AIRg, and disposition index using the MINMOD program (MINMOD Millennium v. 6.02). Helow Springs Instruments). Plasma insulin will be measured by RIA using samples stored at -80 °C until assay.

Physical Activity (PA): Total PA in the free-living environment will be measured using tri-axial accelerometers ActiGraph-GT9X+ (Actigraph, Pensacola, FL) for 7 days. Participants will be asked to maintain their regular sleep-wake schedule and wear the monitor for consecutive 7 days. If subject wears the monitor on their wrist, subject will be instructed to wear the monitor on their non-dominant wrist. The raw data will be collected at 30 Hz, preprocessed and converted to vector magnitude counts. After assessing monitor wear/no-wear time, the outcomes of interest will be total number of counts and time and spent in sedentary, light, moderate and vigorous activity intensities. Intra- and inter-individual differences in the amount and patterns of physical activity will be assessed using methods described in previous studies in adults. Subjects will be asked to wear the accelerometer for 7 days after their second baseline half-day, for 7 days before their interim visit, and for 7 days before their 12-week visit.

Quality of Life: Quality of life will be assessed using the Medical Outcomes Study Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36). The SF-36 is a generic, multi-item scale with eight domains that include: physical functioning, bodily pain, mental health, social functioning, vitality, general health perceptions, role limitations-physical, and role limitations-emotional. Individual subscale scores, a mental component summary score, and a physical component score summary score are calculated.<sup>64</sup> The SF-36 has been widely used to measure quality of life among patients with obesity and is sensitive to changes in weight and BMI. 65,66 The International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF) will be used to measure sexual function in men. The IIEF addresses four domains of male sexual function (erectile function, orgasmic function, sexual desire, intercourse satisfaction, and overall satisfaction) and is the gold standard for measuring erectile dysfunction.<sup>67</sup>The Female Sexual Function Index will be used to measure sexual function in women. The FSFI is comprised of five domains: desire and subjective arousal, lubrication, orgasm, satisfaction, and pain/discomfort and is the most widely used measurement of female sexual function. 68 A nurse practitioner ) with extensive experience administering quality of life surveys will perform these assessments.

**Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DEXA):** Body composition will be assessed at baseline and at 12 weeks. Participants will lie flat on a table while a machine takes pictures of different areas of their bodies. This test will last about 15 minutes.

<u>Interim Visit</u>: This visit will take place approximately 6 weeks after the baseline visits. At this visit, we will discuss any noted side effects, conduct a pill count, perform a blood draw, and give subjects their next 6-week supply of the study medication.

**12 Week:** The tests performed at baseline (described above) will be performed approximately 12 weeks after beginning the study medication.

## 7.0 Optional Genetic and Future Research on Biological Samples

As part of the informed consent, participants will be asked whether blood, not used in this analysis, may be stored for future analysis. If the participant does not consent to this, samples will be used only for the present study and excess samples discarded.

# 8.0 Reporting of Adverse Events or Unanticipated Problems involving Risk to Participants or Others

Risks and Discomfort

Tadalafil is a medication with proven safety. This drug was initially approved by the FDA in 2003 for the treatment of erectile dysfunction (under the trade name CIALIS) at a starting dose of 2.5mg and a maximum dose of 5mg for daily use and at a starting dose of 10mg and a maximum dose of 20 mg up to once daily for as needed use. Tadalafil 20mg daily has been used without serious adverse effects in a recent study of healthy men with mild erectile dysfunction. Safety data are provided in the package inserts and Physician Desk Reference (PDR through MICROMEDEX) entry and summarized here. In 2009, the FDA approved use of this medication at a dose of up to 40mg daily for management in pulmonary arterial hypertension (under the trade name ADCIRCA) based on Phase III clinical trial data. In pre-clinical safety data, tadalafil 20mg daily produced no significant decrease in supine or standing systolic/diastolic blood pressure when compared to placebo (supine decreased by 1.6/0.8 mm Hg and standing decreased by 0.2/4.6 mm Hg).

Contraindications for the use of tadalafil are concomitant use of organic nitrates (because of severe hypotension) and a history of hypersensitivity reaction to tadalafil; individuals with those characteristics are excluded from this study. Individuals using anti-hypertensive medications are at increased risk of having low blood pressure when using tadalafil, and these individuals are excluded from this study as well. Safety testing and post-marketing surveillance have identified serious potential side effects for which study subjects could be at risk. These include myocardial infarction, unstable angina, heart failure, uncontrolled arrhythmias, stroke, sudden visual loss, sudden hearing loss, and priapism. These conditions are all rare, and whether they are directly related to tadalafil use is unclear. Individuals with a history of these conditions are excluded from the protocol. Study subjects are advised to stop taking tadalafil and seek medical attention immediately should they experience any of the above or symptoms that may indicate any of the above. The most common adverse reactions experienced during pre-clinical safety trials and post-surveillance marketing for individuals taking tadalafil 20mg daily are: headache (15%), dyspepsia (10%), back pain (6%), myalgia (3%), nasal congestion (3%), flushing (3%), and pain in a limb (3%). In a study of otherwise healthy men with mild erectile dysfunction, tadalafil 20mg daily for 9 months was associated with the following adverse events: headache (16%), back

pain (14%), dyspepsia (8%), gastroesophageal reflux disease (8%), myalgia (8%), pain (4%), pain in an extremity (4%), dizziness (3%), and nasopharyngitis (3%) [23].

Because headache is a relatively common side effect of the medication, we will ask subjects to contact us if they experience a persistent headache. If it is determined by the study team that the duration and severity of the subject's symptoms indicate a need to decrease the subject's dosage, the dosage may be decreased to 10mg daily. After adjusting the dose of the medication, study personnel will communicate with subjects and the dose may be readjusted as symptoms decrease. Board certified Internist/Cardiologists (the MPIs) are available by pager and telephone at all times, if not physically present, during the study.

## **Venipuncture**

The risks of drawing blood are uncommon and may include bleeding, minor infection and bruising. Commonly, having blood drawn is painful, and rarely can lead to infection at the site of the blood draw. The amount of blood drawn is small, and represents an exceedingly small percentage of the amount of the total blood volume and will not represent a significant risk to the subject.

Subjects will be removed from the study if symptoms or medical issues arise that are deemed clinically significant by the PI or NP. A few examples are listed here:

- 1) If the participant has or develops clinically significant contraindications to taking the study drug.
- 2) If the participant has or develops clinically significant lightheadedness, particularly when standing at any blood pressure.
- 3) If the participant develops systolic blood pressure less than 100 mm Hg when seated or standing.
- 4) If clinically significant anemia is identified

As stated in the consent form and reviewed at the time of enrollment, subjects may end participation at any time without prejudice.

## Adverse Events

Investigators will report all serious, unexpected, and study-related adverse events to the Data Safety Monitor and the local Institutional Review Board in a timely manner according to IRB Policies and Procedures.

Adverse event reporting: It is proposed that events possibly related to the study will be graded by the investigators in the following manner:

Adverse Event (AE) Grading Scale:

0= No Adverse Event or within normal limits

1= Mild Severity: Transient laboratory test alterations; discomforts noted but no disruption of daily activities; no therapy, or only symptomatic therapy required

2= Moderate Severity: Laboratory test alterations indicating injury without long-term risk; discomfort sufficient to modify normal daily activity; specific therapy required (i.e., more than symptomatic)

3= Serious Severity: Laboratory test indicating a serious health threat or permanent injury; incapacity, inability to work, inability to perform normal daily activity; hospitalization required or prolonged; emergency treatment required; life-threatening events; death

- f) Breech in confidentiality that may involve risk to that individual or others;
- g) Complaint of a participant that indicates an unanticipated risk or which cannot be resolved by the research staff; or
- h) Other event that is unanticipated, involved risk to participants or others and was possibly related to the research procedures.

Adverse events of a serious severity thought to be related to the research protocol will be reported to the NIH, the Vanderbilt IRB, the DSM and Drs. Wang and Brittain 24 hours of occurrence and the specific study will cease to perform the suspect procedure until review. The IRB will have the responsibility to confirm the severity of the adverse event, determine if it is likely that the adverse event was related to the study, and make recommendations for continuation, modification or cessation of the study. Data monitoring will routinely be performed by Drs. Wang and Brittain and in response to the reports of serious adverse events.

## 9.0 Study Withdrawal/Discontinuation

We plan to monitor closely for adverse effects and remove a subject for symptoms deemed related to study drug. The inability to tolerate tadalafil or hypersensitivity to drug will trigger withdrawal. Furthermore, the DSM has the ability to stop the study for safety concerns. If at any time during the study, participants decide they do want their blood samples or metabolic chamber data analyzed or included in the study results, they can contact the PI via phone or in writing (all contact information is provided in the consent form). At that point, the patient's data would be removed from the electronic database.

#### 10.0 Statistical Considerations

## Aim 1:

Statistical analysis: We will test the effects of tadalafil versus placebo on the primary endpoint (resting energy expenditure) and the secondary endpoints, in similar fashion. We will use a generalization of the Wilcoxon test – the proportional odds ordinal logistic model – with the week 12 value of resting energy expenditure as the dependent variable. Based on our pilot study, we will assume dropouts to be infrequent. Predictor variables will include the baseline resting energy expenditure, age, gender, BMI, race, and a treatment group indicator. The effects of the baseline value and age will be assumed to be smooth but not linear by using restricted cubic spline functions. A sensitivity analysis will assign Week 12 non-completers to the worst rank and then apply the proportional odds model. In exploratory analyses, we will also study whether treatment effects differ by patient subgroups. These pre-defined analyses will be performed for sex, race (white or non-white), and BMI. We will also perform sensitivity analyses excluding those non-compliant with study pills (missing ≥ 2/3 doses).

Statistical power: Power analysis is based on an approximation to the proportional odds analysis controlling for baseline by subtracting (analysis of change) instead of regression. Data on the within-individual standard deviation (SD) of resting energy expenditure are limited, particularly from the metabolic chamber. Thus, as an approximation we used the between-individual SD (364 kcal) from our prior studies of 108 obese (BMI 32 kg/m2, 56% female) individuals. We estimate the correlation between pre- and post-treatment measurements to be 0.5 so that the SD of the within-subject change is also 364 kcal. We model several scenarios, up to a dropout rate of 15%, a high estimate. Even with a dropout of 15%, we will have excellent power (84%) to detect a relatively modest 182 kcal difference between tadalafil and placebo groups, with a type I error of 0.025. We have set the p-value threshold at 0.05/2 = 0.025, to account for the 2 primary clinical endpoints in the proposal (corresponding to Specific Aims 1

and 2). 182 kcal represents ~10% of the total daily energy expenditure for an obese adult from our prior studies.

#### Aim 2:

Statistical analysis: The analytic approach will parallel that described for Aim 1 (substituting the endpoints from Aim 2). The primary analyses will focus on the effect of PDE5 inhibition on insulin sensitivity (SI). Secondary analyses include measures of insulin secretion (AIRg, and disposition index), body composition, and quality of life.

Statistical Power: We selected the sample size based on the baseline insulin sensitivity (SI) measured by FS-IVGTT in a prior study of patients with insulin resistance and on the magnitude of effect of PDE5 inhibition on insulin sensitivity in our preliminary data. A higher SI indicates better insulin sensitivity. We plan to enroll 100 subjects per arm and allow up to a 15% dropout rate over 3 months. With 85 completed subjects per arm, the study will have 90% power with alpha 0.025 to detect a 23% increase in SI from a baseline of 5.89±2.75 x10-4•min-1 per mU/L (mean ± SD) versus no change in the placebo arm. We observed a 30% increase in Si in our pilot data using a lower equivalent dose of PDE5 inhibitor over a shorter study duration. Therefore, we will have excellent power to detect a modest effect of PDE5 inhibition. The baseline AIRg from our prior studies in a similar population was 577.3±259.8. With 85 completed subjects per arm, we will have 90% power to detect a 25% increase in AIRg, the other component of disposition index. In prior studies we observed within-subject correlations of 0.7-0.8 for repeated IVGTT measurements (SI, AIRg), but we based our power estimates on a more conservative within-subject correlation of 0.5 for both variables to ensure adequate statistical power. We and others have observed that the acute (AIRq)- and late-phase insulin secretion and disposition index are significantly increased in African American subjects independent of body mass index or insulin sensitivity. 21,22 We will address this by stratifying for race (in addition to gender) at the time of randomization.

### Aim 3:

Statistical analysis: The analytic approach will parallel that described for Aim 1 (substituting the endpoints from Aim 3). We will also assess the correlation of the change in cGMP/NP ratio with the change in the primary endpoints (energy expenditure, insulin sensitivity) in the active arm and in the overall sample.

Although the metabolomics studies are exploratory, we will adjust the statistical significance threshold for metabolite comparisons using a conservative Bonferroni correction (p = 0.05/300). As a secondary analysis we will do variable clustering to empirically organize the metabolites into clusters such that within-cluster correlations are high and between-cluster correlations of individual metabolites are low. Each cluster will be summarized by its first principal component and these components will be tested for treatment effects using the Wilcoxon test. This reduces multiplicity problems and focuses power.

Statistical power: Based on our pilot study, the within-individual SD of cGMP/NP over 12 weeks in the absence of intervention is 3.6 pmol/pg. With 85 completed subjects per arm (assuming 15% dropout), we will have 90% power with alpha 0.05 to detect a 19% increase in cGMP/NP. We observed an increase of 85% in cGMP/NP in tadalafil-treated subjects in our smaller pilot study, with a smaller sample. Thus, we will have excellent power to detect modest effects. Analysis of metabolites and VEGF-A165b measurements are considered exploratory; therefore, power calculations were not specifically performed for those endpoints.

## 11.0 Privacy/Confidentiality Issues

Consent forms, medical history data, and study data are stored in secured files, either in locked file cabinets or in a locked room separate from medical records and coded such that all subject identifiers have been removed. As an additional precaution all HIPAA regulated information is stored in an electronic file separate from other study data. Only approved study staff (determined by Drs. Wang and Brittain) will be given authorization to access the database. Biospecimens are processed and labeled with barcode labels that include the subjects electronically generated study code and date of sample collection. The bio-specimens are stored in locked freezers in the study Laboratory; only approved study staff has access to the keys for each freezer. Access to the electronic freezer inventory of the specimens is kept on a secure password protected computer.

#### 12.0 Follow-up and Record Retention

The duration of this study is estimated to be 4 years. The duration of record retention will be at least 6 years after study completion, but the possibility exists for indefinite archival of study information via the REDCap database. Should the outcome of this study prompt future investigations, the participants may be contacted to obtain follow-up information and invited to participate in additional studies.

#### 13.0 Literature cited

- 1. Grattan BJ, Connolly-Schoonen J. Addressing weight loss recidivism: a clinical focus on metabolic rate and the psychological aspects of obesity. ISRN Obes 2012;2012:567530.
- 2. Knowler WC, Barrett-Connor E, Fowler SE, et al. Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. N Engl J Med 2002;346(6):393–403.
- 3. Lavie CJ, De Schutter A, Patel DA, Milani RV. Does fitness completely explain the obesity paradox? American Heart Journal 2013;166(1):1–3.
- 4. Wadden TA. Treatment of obesity by moderate and severe caloric restriction. Results of clinical research trials. Ann Intern Med 1993;119(7 Pt 2):688–93.
- 5. Kramer FM, Jeffery RW, Forster JL, Snell MK. Long-term follow-up of behavioral treatment for obesity: patterns of weight regain among men and women. Int J Obes 1989;13(2):123–36.
- 6. Rosenbaum M, Vandenborne K, Goldsmith R, et al. Effects of experimental weight perturbation on skeletal muscle work efficiency in human subjects. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2003;285(1):R183–92.
- 7. Wong CY, O'Moore-Sullivan T, Leano R, Byrne N, Beller E, Marwick TH. Alterations of left ventricular myocardial characteristics associated with obesity. Circulation 2004;110(19):3081–7.
- 8. Yokota T, Kinugawa S, Okita K, et al. Lower aerobic capacity was associated with abnormal intramuscular energetics in patients with metabolic syndrome. Hypertens Res 2011;34(9):1029–34.
- 9. Lee D-C, Sui X, Church TS, Lee I-M, Blair SN. Associations of cardiorespiratory fitness and obesity with risks of impaired fasting glucose and type 2 diabetes in men. Diabetes Care 2009;32(2):257–62.
- 10. Church TS, LaMonte MJ, Barlow CE, Blair SN. Cardiorespiratory fitness and body mass index as predictors of cardiovascular disease mortality among men with diabetes. Arch Intern Med 2005;165(18):2114–20.

- 11. Duplain H, Burcelin R, Sartori C, et al. Insulin resistance, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension in mice lacking endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Circulation 2001;104(3):342–5.
- 12. Shankar RR, Wu Y, Shen HQ, Zhu JS, Baron AD. Mice with gene disruption of both endothelial and neuronal nitric oxide synthase exhibit insulin resistance. Diabetes 2000;49(5):684–7.
- 13. Baron AD, Zhu JS, Marshall S, Irsula O, Brechtel G, Keech C. Insulin resistance after hypertension induced by the nitric oxide synthesis inhibitor L-NMMA in rats. Am J Physiol 1995;269(4 Pt 1):E709–15.
- 14. Miyashita K, Itoh H, Tsujimoto H, et al. Natriuretic peptides/cGMP/cGMP-dependent protein kinase cascades promote muscle mitochondrial biogenesis and prevent obesity. Diabetes 2009;58(12):2880–92.
- 15. Ayala JE, Bracy DP, Julien BM, Rottman JN, Fueger PT, Wasserman DH. Chronic treatment with sildenafil improves energy balance and insulin action in high fat-fed conscious mice. Diabetes 2007;56(4):1025–33.
- 16. Lewis GD, Lachmann J, Camuso J, et al. Sildenafil improves exercise hemodynamics and oxygen uptake in patients with systolic heart failure. Circulation 2007;115(1):59–66.
- 17. Lewis GD, Shah R, Shahzad K, et al. Sildenafil improves exercise capacity and quality of life in patients with systolic heart failure and secondary pulmonary hypertension. Circulation 2007;116(14):1555–62.
- 18. Nisoli E, Falcone S, Tonello C, et al. Mitochondrial biogenesis by NO yields functionally active mitochondria in mammals. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2004;101(47):16507–12.
- 19. Young ME, Leighton B. Evidence for altered sensitivity of the nitric oxide/cGMP signalling cascade in insulin-resistant skeletal muscle. Biochem J 1998;329 ( Pt 1):73–9.
- 20. Sheffield-Moore M, Wiktorowicz JE, Soman KV, et al. Sildenafil increases muscle protein synthesis and reduces muscle fatigue. Clin Transl Sci 2013;6(6):463–8.
- 21. Bordicchia M, Liu D, Amri E-Z, et al. Cardiac natriuretic peptides act via p38 MAPK to induce the brown fat thermogenic program in mouse and human adipocytes. J Clin Invest 2012;122(3):1022–36.
- 22. Mitschke MM, Hoffmann LS, Gnad T, et al. Increased cGMP promotes healthy expansion and browning of white adipose tissue. FASEB J 2013;27(4):1621–30.
- 23. García-Barroso C, Ricobaraza A, Pascual-Lucas M, et al. Tadalafil crosses the blood-brain barrier and reverses cognitive dysfunction in a mouse model of AD. Neuropharmacology 2013;64:114–23.
- 24. Loughney K, Hill TR, Florio VA, et al. Isolation and characterization of cDNAs encoding PDE5A, a human cGMP-binding, cGMP-specific 3",5-"cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase. Gene 1998;216(1):139–47.
- 25. Kotera J, Fujishige K, Omori K. Immunohistochemical localization of cGMP-binding cGMP-specific phosphodiesterase (PDE5) in rat tissues. J Histochem Cytochem 2000;48(5):685–93.
- 26. Hill KD, Eckhauser AW, Marney A, Brown NJ. Phosphodiesterase 5 inhibition improves beta-cell function in metabolic syndrome. Diabetes Care 2009;32(5):857–9.
- 27. Ho JE, Arora P, Walford GA, et al. Effect of phosphodiesterase inhibition on insulin resistance in obese individuals. J Am Heart Assoc 2014;3(5):e001001.
- 28. Cheng S, Rhee EP, Larson MG, et al. Metabolite Profiling Identifies Pathways Associated With Metabolic Risk in Humans. Circulation 2012;125(18):2222–31.
- 29. Wang TJ, Larson MG, Vasan RS, et al. Metabolite profiles and the risk of developing diabetes. Nat Med 2011;17(4):448–53.
- 30. Magnusson M, Lewis GD, Ericson U, et al. A diabetes-predictive amino acid score and future cardiovascular disease. European Heart Journal 2012;

- 31. Lincoln TM, Hall CL, Park CR, Corbin JD. Guanosine 3":5-"cyclic monophosphate binding proteins in rat tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1976;73(8):2559–63.
- 32. Francis SH, Lincoln TM, Corbin JD. Characterization of a novel cGMP binding protein from rat lung. J Biol Chem 1980;255(2):620–6.
- 33. Wang TJ, Ngo D, Psychogios N, et al. 2-Aminoadipic acid is a biomarker for diabetes risk. J Clin Invest 2013;123(10):4309–17.
- 34. Rhee EP, Cheng S, Larson MG, et al. Lipid profiling identifies a triacylglycerol signature of insulin resistance and improves diabetes prediction in humans. J Clin Invest 2011;121(4):1402–11.
- 35. Ho JE, Larson MG, Vasan RS, et al. Metabolite Profiles During Oral Glucose Challenge. Diabetes 2013:
- 36. Buchowski MS, Simmons SF, Whitaker LE, et al. Fatigability as a function of physical activity energy expenditure in older adults. Age (Dordr) 2013;35(1):179–87.
- 37. Shibao C, Buchowski MS, Chen KY, Yu C, Biaggioni I. Chronic sympathetic attenuation and energy metabolism in autonomic failure. Hypertension 2012;59(5):985–90.
- 38. Chan J, Lomenick JP, Buchowski MS, Shoemaker AH. Insulin resistance is not associated with thermogenic effect of a high-fat meal in obese children. Nutr Res 2014;34(6):486–90.
- 39. Pugh ME, Buchowski MS, Robbins IM, Newman JH, Hemnes AR. Physical Activity Limitation as Measured by Accelerometry in Pulmonary Arterial Hypertension. Chest 2012;142:1391-8.
- 40. Warolin J, Carrico AR, Whitaker LE, et al. Effect of BMI on prediction of accelerometry-based energy expenditure in youth. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012;44(12):2428–35.
- 41. Tracy DJ, Xu Z, Choi L, Acra S, Chen KY, Buchowski MS. Separating bedtime rest from activity using waist or wrist-worn accelerometers in youth. PLoS One 2014;9(4):e92512–2.
- 42. Luther JM, Luo P, Wang Z, et al. Aldosterone deficiency and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonism prevent angiotensin II-induced cardiac, renal, and vascular injury. Kidney Int 2012;82(6):643–51.
- 43. Luther JM, Byrne LM, Yu C, Wang TJ, Brown NJ. Dietary sodium restriction decreases insulin secretion without affecting insulin sensitivity in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2014;99(10):E1895–902.
- 44. Arora P, Song Y, Dusek J, et al. Vitamin D therapy in individuals with prehypertension or hypertension: the DAYLIGHT trial. Circulation 2015;131(3):254–62.
- 45. Luther JM, Gainer JV, Murphey LJ, et al. Angiotensin II induces interleukin-6 in humans through a mineralocorticoid receptor-dependent mechanism. Hypertension 2006;48(6):1050–7.
- 46. Ramírez ČE, Shuey MM, Milne GL, et al. Arg287Gln variant of EPHX2 and epoxyeicosatrienoic acids are associated with insulin sensitivity in humans. Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat 2014;113-115:38–44.
- 47. Gilbert K, Nian H, Yu C, Luther JM, Brown NJ. Fenofibrate lowers blood pressure in salt-sensitive but not salt-resistant hypertension. J Hypertens 2013;31(4):820–9.
- 48. Brown JM, Williams JS, Luther JM, et al. Human interventions to characterize novel relationships between the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system and parathyroid hormone. Hypertension 2014;63(2):273–80.
- 49. Aslam M, Eckhauser AW, Dorminy CA, Dossett CM, Choi L, Buchowski MS. Assessing body fat changes during moderate weight loss with anthropometry and bioelectrical impedance. Obes Res Clin Pract 2009;3(4):209–19.
- 50. Whitaker LE, Wohlers E, Moon JC, Chen KY, Buchowski MS. Detecting fractional changes in metabolism with a whole room respiration calorimeter. Obesity

- 2011:19(1):S85.
- 51. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes--2011. Diabetes Care. 2011;34 Suppl 1:S11–61.
- 52. Mathie MJ, Coster ACF, Lovell NH, Celler BG. Accelerometry: providing an integrated, practical method for long-term, ambulatory monitoring of human movement. Physiol Meas 2004;25(2):R1–20.
- 53. Godfrey A, Conway R, Meagher D, OLaighin G. Direct measurement of human movement by accelerometry. Med Eng Phys 2008;30(10):1364–86.
- 54. Schutz Y, Weinsier RL, Hunter GR. Assessment of free-living physical activity in humans: an overview of currently available and proposed new measures. Obes Res 2001;9(6):368–79.
- 55. Wohler-Keresh E, Moon JC, Whitaker LE, Shoemaker AH, Buchowski MS. Improving accuracy of energy expenditure measurements from room calorimetry in youth. Obesity 2012;20(1):S13.
- 56. WEIR JBDB. New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. J Physiol (Lond) 1949;109(1-2):1–9.
- 57. Buchowski MS, Chen KY, Byrne D, Wang WC. Equation to estimate resting energy expenditure in adolescents with sickle cell anemia. Am J Clin Nutr 2002;76(6):1335–44.
- 58. Gribok A, Hoyt R, Buller M, Rumpler W. On the accuracy of instantaneous gas exchange rates, energy expenditure and respiratory quotient calculations obtained from indirect whole room calorimetry. Physiol Meas 2013;34(6):737–55.
- 59. Brychta RJ, Rothney MP, Skarulis MC, Chen KY. Optimizing energy expenditure detection in human metabolic chambers. Conf Proc IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2009;2009;6864–8.
- 60. Kenny GP, Stapleton JM, Yardley JE, Boulay P, Sigal RJ. Older Adults with Type 2 Diabetes Store More Heat during Exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2013;45(10):1906–14.
- 61. Hoffmann LS, Etzrodt J, Willkomm L, et al. Stimulation of soluble guanylyl cyclase protects against obesity by recruiting brown adipose tissue. Nat Commun 2015;6:7235.
- 62. Kahn SE, Hull RL, Utzschneider KM. Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nature 2006;444(7121):840–6.
- 63. Gonzalez ET, Gimeno MA, Gimeno AL. Prostaglandin E2 alters the metabolism of labelled glucose in uteri isolated from ovariectomized rats. Effects of 17-beta estradiol and indomethacin. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 1989;35(1):31–5.
- 64. Ware JE, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care 1992;30(6):473–83.
- 65. UI-Haq Z, Mackay DF, Fenwick E, Pell JP. Meta-analysis of the association between body mass index and health-related quality of life among adults, assessed by the SF-36. Obesity 2013;21(3):E322–7.
- 66. Kolotkin RL, Meter K, Williams GR. Quality of life and obesity. Obes Rev 2001;2(4):219–29.
- 67. Rosen RC, Riley A, Wagner G, Osterloh IH, Kirkpatrick J, Mishra A. The international index of erectile function (IIEF): a multidimensional scale for assessment of erectile dysfunction. Urology 1997;49(6):822–30.
- 68. Rosen R, Brown C, Heiman J, et al. The Female Sexual Function Index (FSFI): a multidimensional self-report instrument for the assessment of female sexual function. J Sex Marital Ther 2000;26(2):191–208.